1993

Utah v. Rock : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review, reverse or annul the final judgment and conviction rendered by the Third Judicial Circuit Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah in this criminal case. Rule 26(2)(a) Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure (1989) (Addendum 1), and Judicial Code §78-2a-3(2)(f) U.C.A. (1953 as amended) (Addendum 2).

II.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Whether appellant's constitutional rights as guaranteed by the United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment, as well as Article 1, Sect. 14 of the Utah Constitution were violated by the investigatory detention which took longer than necessary to effect the purpose of the stop? State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d. 880 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), State v. Grovier, 808 P.2d. 133 (Utah App. 1991); State v. Davis, 821 P.2d. 9 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment; Article 1, §14 of the Utah Constitution.

2. Whether the Circuit Court Judge erred in denying appellant's motion to Suppress evidence obtained after appellant's impermissible detention? State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d. 880 (Utah App. 1990), State v. Grovier, 808 P.2d. 133 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); State v. Davis, 821 P.2d. 9 (Utah Ct. App. 1991); United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment; Article 1, §14 of the Utah Constitution.

III.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. The standard of review for findings of fact underlying a Trial Court's decision on a Motion to Suppress is the "clearly erroneous" standard. State v. Marshall, at 882 and State v. Grovier, at 135, 136.

IV.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

A. Constitutional Provisions

1. United States Constitution, 4th Amendment (Addendum No. 3).
2. Article 1, §14 of the Utah Constitution (Addendum No. 4).

B. Rules of Appellate Procedure

1. Rule 11, The Record on Appeal (Addendum No. 5).
2. Rule 24, Briefs (Addendum No. 6).

V.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a criminal appeal of the Third Judicial Circuit Court's decision denying defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence in a DUI case (Addendum 7).

B. Course of Proceedings

On November 27, 1992, defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Evidence in a DUI Charge with Supporting Points and Authorities (Addendum 8).

On March 18, 1993, an Evidentiary Hearing was heard by the Third Judicial Circuit Court regarding defendant's Motion to Suppress (Addendum 9).

On March 29, 1993, plaintiff filed its Response to Motion to Suppress Evidence (Addendum 10).

On April 6, 1993, in response to plaintiff's Response, defendant filed a pleading entitled Motion to Suppress Evidence in DUI Charge (Addendum No. 11).

On April 12, 1993, the Third Judicial Circuit Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, denied defendant's Motion to Suppress (Addendum 7).

On April 16, 1993, the Third Judicial Circuit Court reaffirmed its decision (Addendum 12).

On June 17, 1993, defendant Heidi Rock entered a conditional plea of guilty to the DUI charge, specifically reserving the Appellate issues arising out of defendant's Motion to Suppress (Addendum 13 at 2, 3 and 4).

C. Disposition at Trial Court

The Trial Court denied defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence in a DUI Charge (Addendum 7). A conditional plea of guilty to the DUI charge was entered June 17, 1993, specifically reserving the Appellate issues arising out of defendant's Motion to Suppress Evidence in a DUI Charge (Addendum 13, pages 2, 3 & 4).

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT - FACTS

An investigatory detention must be "temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effect the purpose of the stop." State v. Davis, 821 P.2d. 9, 12 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)

(Addendum No. 14).

On or about July 19, 1992, at 2:05 to 2:10 am, Heidi Rock was stopped by Officer Jed Hurst (Addendum 9, pages 6 & 9). Officer Hurst was off-duty at the time of the stop (Addendum 9, page 7). Officer Hurst had Heidi Rock perform two field tests, including the horizontal gaze nystagmus and the hand-slap test (Addendum 9, page 7). Following the two field tests, Officer Hurst did not believe he had enough probable cause for an arrest as his usual practice is to give four or five field sobriety tests (Addendum 9, page 19). Officer Hurst could have requested Heidi Rock to perform a third, fourth and fifth field sobriety test without delay and make a determination concerning probable cause to arrest Heidi Rock for DUI, but did not want to (Addendum 9, page 19). Officer Hurst had the skill, ability and training to conduct field sobriety tests (Addendum 9, page 19). Heidi Rock's detention was prolonged five to ten minutes while they waited for Officer Isakson to arrive at the scene (Addendum 9, pages 20 and 22). During the prolonged detention, no investigation nor further field tests took place (Addendum 9, page 20). Heidi Rock was not free to leave while waiting for Officer Isakson to arrive (Addendum 9, page 20). The only reason claimed for the prolonged detention was to reduce the overtime pay to the Police Department (Addendum 9, page 20). Following Officer Isakson's arrival, Officer Hurst remained at the scene and observed all of the field tests conducted by Officer Isakson, which included tests previously performed by Heidi Rock during Officer Hurst's partial investigation (Addendum 9, page 8). Nearly one hour following the initial stop, Officer Hurst continued to remain present at the scene of the stop until 3:00 a.m., and personally performed the inventory search and impound of Ms. Rock's vehicle (Addendum 9, pages 9 and 10). Officer Hurst was qualified to conduct sufficient field tests to determine

whether probable cause existed to arrest Heidi Rock, in which case, he could have arrested Heidi Rock and delivered her to another officer at the scene without delay (Addendum 9, page 13). The investigatory detention of Heidi Rock was unnecessarily delayed and lasted longer than was necessary to effect the purpose of the stop State v. Davis, 821 P.2d. 9, 12 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (Addendum 14).

VII.

DETAIL OF THE ARGUMENT

THE INVESTIGATORY DETENTION OF HEIDI ROCK LASTED LONGER THAN NECESSARY TO EFFECT THE PURPOSE OF THE STOP.

In State v. Marshall, this court stated "the protective shield of the Fourth Amendment applies when an officer stops an automobile on a highway and detains its occupants. State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d., 880, 883 (Utah Ct. App. 1990), citing State v. Sierra, 754 P.2d. 972, 975 (Utah Ct. App. 1988) (Addendum 15). The Constitutional protections guaranteed by the United States and Utah Constitutions against unreasonable seizures apply here since Heidi Rock was stopped by the officer and was not free to leave (Addendums 1, 2, and 12, pages 6 & 20). The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the Utah Constitution, guarantee a fundamental right to citizens to be free from unreasonable seizures (Addendums 1 and 2). As such she could not be subject to an unreasonable and unnecessarily lengthy investigatory detention. The detention of Heidi Rock violates both the United States and Utah Constitutions to be free from unreasonable seizures.

In State v. Davis, the court stated:

Moreover, an investigatory detention must be "temporary and last no longer than is necessary to effect the purpose of the stop." State v. Davis, 821 P.2d. 9, 12 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), citing State v. Deitman, 739 P.2d. 616, 617 (Utah 1987) (citing United States v. Merritt, 736 F.2d. 223, 230 (5th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 476 U.S. 1142, 106 S.Ct. 2250, 90 L.Ed. 2d. 696 (1986)) (emphasis added).

The cases of State v. Grovier and State v. Marshall both focus "not on the length of the detention alone, but on "whether the police diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly, during which time it was necessary to detain the defendant." State v. Grovier, 808 P.2d. 133, 136 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d. 880, 884 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) (emphasis added) (Addendum 16). The investigatory detention to determine by field tests whether Heidi Rock had violated a DUI law was unreasonable for two reasons. First, the investigatory detention lasted longer than necessary to effect the purpose of the stop. Officer Hurst had the skill and training to conduct the complete investigation without delay (Addendum 9, page 19). Officer Hurst did not diligently pursue the investigation when he chose to discontinue the investigation in order to wait for Officer Isakson to appear at the scene (Id. at 20). Officer Hurst could have called for an on-duty officer to appear at the scene and at the same time continue with the investigation (Id. at 19). The detention, therefore, took longer than necessary to effect the purpose of the stop and was, therefore, unreasonable.

Secondly, the investigatory detention was unreasonable since there was no legitimate reason to prolong the investigation. Officer Hurst claimed that the reason for the prolonged detention was to reduce the overtime pay to the Police Department (Id. at 20). In fact, Officer Hurst's actions were inconsistent with the reason given when he continued to remain at the scene

of the stop for nearly one hour, and personally performed the inventory search and impound of Ms. Rock's vehicle (Id. at 9 & 10). The interest in reducing overtime pay was not served. The interest in reducing overtime charges to the Police Department could have been served without prolonging Heidi Rock's detention. The investigation could have completed without delay. In the event of an arrest, Heidi Rock could have been delivered to another officer responding to the scene (Id. at 13). In that manner, the detention would have taken no longer than necessary to effect the purpose of the stop and Officer Hurst's off-duty time would have terminated upon Officer Isakson's arrival at the scene thereby satisfying the Police Department's interest.

VIII.

CONCLUSION

The investigatory detention to determine whether Heidi Rock was operating a motor vehicle in violation of Utah's DUI statute took longer than necessary. Officer Hurst was trained and skilled in conducting field sobriety tests and should have continued conducting the investigation during which time Officer Isakson was heading to the scene. Officer Hurst could then have completed the investigation without delay and either arrested or released her. If arrested, Heidi Rock could have been delivered to Officer Isakson without further involvement by Officer Hurst. In that manner, the investigatory detention of Heidi Rock would have been no longer than necessary.

The reason given by Officer Hurst for the delay in the investigation was concern regarding overtime charges to the Police Department. However, Officer Hurst's actions in remaining at the scene for nearly one hour following Officer Isakson's arrival, and then performing the inventory search and impound of Ms. Rock's vehicle were inconsistent with the

the interests of the Police Department. The interests of the Police Department would have been best served by following the procedure described above. More importantly, the detention of Heidi Rock would not have been longer than necessary.

The facts support a finding that Heidi Rock's constitutional rights as guaranteed under the United States and Utah Constitutions against unreasonable seizures were violated and require a reversal of the Trial Court's decision.