1993

Utah v. Rock : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court will review Appellant's claim of error on the Trial Court's denial of her motion to suppress under a correction of error standard. State v. Munsen, 821 P.2d 13 (Utah App. 1991),

State v. Taylor, 818 P.2d 561, 565 (Utah App. 1991).

STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS

The City relies upon the following statutes and Constitutional Provisions:

I. United States Constitution, Amendment IV.

[Unreasonable searches and seizures]

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

On July 19, 1992, Appellant Heidi Rock was Cited for the Offense of driving under the influence of alcohol and other infractions. She was later formally charged by Salt Lake City in an information in the Third Circuit Court with the same violations. On November 27, 1992, Rock filed a motion to suppress evidence, with supporting memorandum, in the Circuit Court.

On March 18, 1993, an evidentiary hearing was held in front of the Honorable Judge Philip Palmer on Rock's motion to suppress. On request of the Court, the Plaintiff City of Salt Lake filed a written response to the motion to suppress on March 29, 1993. On April 6, 1993, Rock filed an answer to the City's response.

On April 12, 1993, Judge Palmer denied defendant's motion to

suppress. On April 16, 1993, Judge Palmer reaffirmed the Court's decision on the motion to suppress.

On June 17, 1993, Heidi Rock entered a plea of guilty to the charge of driving under the influence, preserving the right to appeal the Court's decision on the motion to suppress.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 19, 1992, Defendant Heidi Rock was stopped by Officer Jedd Hurst of the Salt Lake City Police Department when Officer Hurst observed her driving her car without headlights and making a wide right turn. Officer Hurst was off-duty, in uniform, at the time of the stop. R. at p.63. Officer Hurst noted an odor of alcohol when he contacted Ms. Rock. R. at p. 64.

Due to his observations of Defendant's physical condition and her apparent mental state, Officer Hurst asked Defendant to perform two field sobriety tests. Based on Defendant's performance on the tests, Officer Hurst formed the opinion that Defendant was under the influence of alcohol. R. at p. 71.

Upon forming that opinion, Officer Hurst called for an on-duty Officer to respond and handle what Officer Hurst believed would ripen into an arrest for a DUI. R at p. 64. Officer Hurst took this action because Department Policy dictated that if an on-duty officer were available, the on-duty officer should be called to save overtime expense. R. at pp. 64, 72. Within five to ten minutes of the call from Officer Hurst, Officer Rusty Isaakson of

the SLCPD responded. R. at p. 65. Officer Isaakson requested Defendant perform field tests so that he could make an independent assessment of Defendant's condition. Two of the tests requested by Officer Hurst were also requested by Officer Isaakson. R. at pp. 65, 66.

Following Defendant's performance of the tests, Officer Isaakson arrested Defendant for DUI.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The detention of Heidi Rock was not constitutionally unreasonable. The initial officer acted reasonably in calling for an on-duty officer, and did not act unreasonably in waiting for the on-duty officer to finish the field tests. The five to ten minute wait is clearly not unreasonable, and the reasons for the wait are legitimate and valid and did not violate defendant's constitutional rights.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DETENTION OF DEFENDANT WAS NOT CONSTITUTIONALLY UNREASONABLE.

A police officer may be justified in making an investigative stop based on less than probable cause. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). The determination of when an investigative stop or detention becomes constitutionally invalid

because of excessive length focuses not on the length of the detention alone, but on whether the police diligently pursued a means of investigation that was likely to confirm or dispel their suspicions quickly, during which time it was necessary to detain the defendant. United States v. Sharpe, 470 U.S. 675, 105 S. Ct. 1568, 84 L.Ed.2d 605 (1985); State v. Grovier, 808 P.2d 133 (Utah App. 1991); State v. Marshall, 791 P.2d 880 (Utah App. 1990); State v. Godina-Luna, 826 P.2d 652 (Utah App. 1992).

In Sharpe, the issue of an excessive detention was raised when a defendant was detained 20 minutes by a State Highway Patrolman who was waiting for the assistance of a DEA agent. The Court concluded that the 20 minute detention was not unlawful. Considering the traditional justification for a Terry stop, the Court noted that:

the brevity of the invasion of the individual's Fourth Amendment interests is an important factor in determining whether the seizure is so minimally intrusive as to be justifiable on reasonable suspicion, ... we have emphasized the need to consider the law enforcement purposes to be served by the stop as well as the time reasonably needed to effectuate those purposes.

Sharpe, 470 U.S. at 685, 84 L.Ed 2d at 615.

It is clear from the Court's discussion in Sharpe, that the determination focused not only on the length of the detention, but also on the reasonableness of the officer's actions. The Court was careful to note that:

[t]he fact that the protection of the public might, in the abstract have been accomplished by "less intrusive" means does not, by itself, render the search unreasonable. [citations omitted]. The question is not simply whether some other alternative means was available, but whether the police acted unreasonably in failing to recognize or to pursue it.

Sharpe at 687, 84 L.Ed.2d at 616. Other cases have confirmed this analysis.¹

The conduct of the Officer in Ms. Rock's case, clearly meets a standard of constitutional reasonableness, and was "diligent pursuit of a means of investigation likely to confirm or dispel suspicions quickly." Sharpe at 686. Ms. Rock has argued that the Officer did not act diligently in pursuit of the investigation when he discontinued field tests awaiting the arrival of an on-duty officer. Such an argument is clearly erroneous in light of Sharpe.

In Sharpe, a state patrolman detained an individual while waiting for another law enforcement officer who was better situated to conduct the investigation. The DEA agent was better able to conduct a full and proper investigation, although the State Highway Patrolman certainly had the authority and some experience in conducting narcotics investigations. The Court apparently did not consider this fatal to the actions of the officers.²

¹ Hayes v. Florida, 470 U.S. 811, 105 S. Ct. 1643, 84 L.Ed.2d 705 (1985), United States v. Gonzalez, 763 F.2d 1127 (10th Cir. 1985), United States v. Recalde, 761 F.2d 1448 (10th Cir. 1985), United States v. Streifel, 781 F.2d 953 (1st Cir. 1986).

Hayes, Recalde, and Gonzalez are distinguishable from Sharpe and Ms. Rock's situation. In Hayes, Recalde and Gonzalez, the defendant's were transported to the police station for further investigation without probable cause for their arrest. All three cases specifically note the distinction from Sharpe, where the investigation occurred in a much less coercive circumstance. Nevertheless, the four cases cited clearly indicate that the analysis focuses not only on the length, but on the reasonableness of the conduct.

² Further error in Defendant's argument is shown by hypothesizing a situation envisioned by Ms. Rock. The initial Officer could have continued and conducted all the field tests, and then communicated the results of those tests to the second officer, who then would have transported defendant to the police department

Ms. Rock has also argued that the Officer's stated reasons for calling an on-duty Officer were inconsistent with his actions because he stayed on the scene an hour more to complete the impound of Ms. Rock's car. This is at odds with the record where the Officer clearly stated that processing the DUI completely would take as much as three hours. R. at p. 66, 67. The Officer's actions did result in a significant reduction in overtime pay.

Clearly, the detention in the case now before the court was no more intrusive than the delay in Sharpe, and was occasioned by an equally legitimate purpose. Although Officer Hurst certainly could have conducted the investigation himself, he did not act unreasonably in calling for an on-duty officer.

In United States v. Streifel, *infra*, p. 6, note 1, the 1st Circuit was faced with a factual situation somewhat like the present case. In Streifel, agents from the DEA and the Maine State Police set up a search operation based on information from an informant. The Officers waited at a home where they believed the defendants would be going. When the defendants arrived, the State Police blocked their cars in and immediately separated the two

for a breath test. If a test were conducted and the result were under the legal limit, the second Officer would clearly be at a considerable disadvantage in determining whether or not the field tests warranted the issuance of a citation for driving while impaired by alcohol. It is clearly the better policy to have the Officer who administered the field tests conduct the breath test, or at least to have an officer who observed the field tests conduct the breath test, particularly where a ten minute wait is all that is sacrificed.

It is also interesting to note that if the initial officer had conducted the entire investigation, the Defendant would have waited for some period of time for another officer or a tow truck driver to respond to complete the impound of the car.

defendants. They were asked by uniformed officers why they were there and for identification. Additionally, they were told they could not leave until the DEA agent in charge of the operation arrived. The DEA agent had been on the scene, but left shortly before the defendant's arrival. He was radioed on their arrival and returned to the scene about five minutes later. Once on the scene, he proceeded with the investigation.

Defendants challenged the detention, saying that it was unreasonable that they would be required to wait until the DEA agents returned. The Court, in cursory fashion, rejected this claim by the defendants, noting:

[F]inally, that Streifel and Quinn were told that they could not leave until Agent Steadman, the head of the investigation, returned, did not render the stop so unreasonable as to elevate it into a custodial situation requiring *Miranda* warnings.

Streifel at 959.

Clearly, in Streifel, the State Police had the ability to carry out the investigation in the same manner and collect evidence just as the DEA agent did. In fact, the State Police conducted a cursory search of one the vehicles, a search that was later repeated by the DEA agent because he had concerns about the legitimacy of the search conducted by the State Police. Id. at 956. This situation is analogous to the case at hand. Clearly, Officer Hurst's action were no more intrusive and were supported by equally valid public policy concerns.

Other Federal case law on the issue of unlawful detention seems to note a distinction between cases challenging the length of

the detention as opposed to cases that address the reasonableness of the detention. See cases cited *supra* p. 6, note 1.

In those case addressing the reasonableness of the detention, the Court notes a common thread, specifically the removal of a defendant from his home or another place to a police station, or an equally coercive situation, for further investigation. See Hayes at 815, 105 S. Ct. at 1646, Gonzalez at 1132, Recalde at 1456. The distinction drawn in these cases from Sharpe appears to be that the roadside situation in Sharpe did not share the same coercive aspects.³ Streifel appears to be consistent with this analysis.

Utah case law has also followed the rule set out in Sharpe. In State v. Grovier, 808 P.2d 133 (Utah App. 1991), the Court of

³ Another possible distinction lies in the apparent lack of probable cause in Hayes and the similar cases cited. In none of those situations did the police have probable cause for a search or for an arrest.

In the case now before this court, probable cause for an arrest arguably did exist. Although the testimony of the Officer at the suppression hearing was somewhat ambiguous, his final conclusion was that if she had refused to perform any more tests, he would have placed her under arrest.

The standard to determine probable cause is whether there are sufficient articulable facts to warrant a person of reasonable caution in believing a crime has been or is or is about to be committed. Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321, 94 L.Ed.2d 347, 107 S. Ct. 1149 (1988). The officer's observations of the driving pattern, the lack of headlights, the defendant's apparent difficulty communicating, the smell of alcohol, and the performance on the field tests arguably would seem to satisfy the standards of probable cause.

If, in fact, the officer did have probable cause to arrest the defendant, any detention would clearly be reasonable as another officer would have needed to respond to secure defendant's car. Therefore, the detention would be harmless. State v. Cox, 787 P.2d 4, 7 (Utah App. 1990), State v. Featherstone, 781 P.2d 424, 431 (Utah 1989).

Appeals of Utah upheld a 90 minute detention necessitated by a search of defendant's car. In Grovier, the Court noted specifically that the focus was not on the length of the detention, but on the means used by the officers to dispel their suspicions. Grovier at 136.

The length of the detention in Grovier was apparently justified by the officer's concern for safety. Although the justification for the length of the detention was different from the justification presented by the Officer in the present case, the reasons are subject to the same reasonableness standard. Grovier distinctly noted that no major interruptions occurred during the search. Grovier at 136. Under the same reasonableness standard, it is difficult to imagine that five to ten minutes is a major interruption that would invalidate a proper investigation.

SUMMARY